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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Highlights for 2010-11

Board and other proceedings
During the reporting period of 1 July 2010 to 30 June 2011 the Board:

convened for 20 Board meetings;

considered 13 Fidelity Guarantee Account claims;

conducted 57 interviews for licensing applications;

commenced 10 disciplinary proceedings against agents or sales representatives in the
State Administrative Tribunal (the SAT); and

appeared before the SAT on 29 occasions.

Achievements
In 2010-11, the Board achieved the following outcomes:

322 new licence applications processed;

1278 applications for new sales representative registrations processed,;

855 applications for triennial certificate renewals processed;

1362 applications for sales representative renewals processed;

176 conciliations commenced;

165 conciliations completed,;

417 new general compliance investigations commenced;

335 new qualified audit investigations commenced;

337 new qualified audit investigations completed;

54 new trust fund investigations commenced;

2150 Home Buyer's Assistance Account grants approved totalling $4,170,458;

603 proactive compliance visits of real estate agencies conducted, of which 57 were in
regional Western Australia;

received 6157 enquiries to the Real Estate and Settlement Advice Line, of which 91.1 per
cent were answered in 40 seconds;

245 mandatory CPD seminars were conducted and funded by the Board and 83 distance
learning packages were sent to remote participants;

two elective CPD regional seminars were conducted by the Registrar;

27 claims lodged against the Fidelity Guarantee Account; and

9 claims completed against the Fidelity Guarantee Account.

AR

Reporting Officer
7 September 2011
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OPERATIONAL STRUCTURE

Enabling Legislation

The Real Estate and Business Agents Supervisory Board was an independent statutory
authority established under the Real Estate and Business Agents Act 1978 (the Act) to regulate
the real estate and business broking industries in Western Australia.

The Board administered the Act, the Real Estate and Business Agents (General) Regulations
1979 (the Regulations) and the Code of Conduct for Agents and Sales Representatives (the
Code of Conduct).

Responsible Minister

The Hon Simon O’Brien MLC took over responsibility as the Minister for Commerce on
14 December 2010. Throughout the reporting period until 13 December 2010 the responsible
minister was the Hon Bill Marmion BE MBA MLA.

Mission
The Board’s overriding goal was for the people of Western Australia have confidence in the real
estate and business broking industries.

Organisational structure

Board structure

The Board was fully funded by industry in the form of:

»= licensing revenue;

» interest earned on money held in agents’ trust accounts; and
» interest earned on retained funds.

This money was used to fund the statutory functions of the Board to the real estate and
business broking industries and the community of Western Australia. The statutory functions
were provided by means of the following services:

Licensing: Quality control of people seeking to enter the real estate and business broking
industries and those already registered or licensed in those industries.

Compliance: Ensuring that licensed real estate and business agents, their sales
representatives and all employees complied with the relevant legislation and financial reporting
requirements and that those who undertook unlicensed activity were stopped from doing so.

Education and Awareness: Built confidence in the industry, encourage awareness of real
estate and business broking ‘best practice’ through activities such as proactive compliance
visits, the CPD program, seminars, publications, e-Bulletins, newsletters and through the
Board’s internet site.

Fidelity Guarantee Account: The assessment of claims for reimbursement from consumers
who have suffered financial loss or loss of property by conduct of a licensee that holds a current
triennial certificate due to the criminal or fraudulent conduct of that agency or its employees
during the course of business of that agency.

Home Buyers Assistance Account: Worked to ensure that people who lodge a claim against
the Account satisfied the necessary requirements and received funding in a timely manner.
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Our people

The Board Director, Board Solicitor, Legal Practitioner, Board Executive Officer, Articled Clerk,
and Board Support Officer were employed in a joint funding arrangement with the Settlement
Agents Supervisory Board. The Registrar, Deputy Registrar, Research and Policy Officer, and
Board Secretary were employed directly by the Board.

Role of senior staff

Director

The Director was the Chief Employee and Chief Financial Officer of the Board and was
responsible for providing advice and assistance to the Board in its day-to-day operations. The
Director ensured that the Board'’s policies and strategies for regulating the real estate and
business broking industries were implemented and monitored.

The Director oversaw the financial and human resources and legal services, assisted with
planning and strategic issues, and negotiating, monitoring, and reporting on contracts with
external providers, including the Service Delivery Agreement with the Department of
Commerce. The Director also assisted the Board to comply with legislation relevant to its
statutory obligations.

Board Solicitor

The Board Solicitor had responsibility for managing legal and policy services for the Board. This
included providing advice to the Board, and its officers and inspectors, on the interpretation and
application of legislation administered by the Board. The Board Solicitor also provided advice on
matters relevant to the Board, such as the conduct of proceedings before the Board, the State
Administrative Tribunal (the SAT), and the courts.

Registrar

The Registrar assisted in overseeing the operations of the Board and provided guidance and
leadership to employees. The Registrar also assisted the Director on policy, legislative and
operational issues.

It was the Registrar’s duty to contribute as a member of a number of Board sub-committees to
assist in the management, development, implementation and evaluation of Board objectives
and policies and manage Board projects as directed.

The Registrar was also responsible for undertaking the statutory functions and determining how
investigations were managed and finalised. The Registrar liaised with and represented the
Board in dealings with the media as required as well as representing the Board at conferences,
seminars, relevant committees, and working parties. It was the duty of the Registrar to promote
the Board and advance its objectives.
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Service Delivery Agreement

The Board contracted the Department of Commerce (the Department) to provide services under
a Service Delivery Agreement (SDA). These services assisted the Board to carry out its
functions. The SDA set out the services and performance measures between the Board and the
Department, in accordance with government output based management requirements.

Organisational chart

Parliament of Western Australia

Minister for Commerce

Real Estate & Business Agents
Supervisory Board

Director

Registrar

Solicitor

Deputy Legal Articled
Registrar Practitioner Clerk

Board Research &
Secretary Policy Officer

Executive
Officer
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Members of the Board
The composition of the Board was set out in section 7 of the Act. There were five members of
the Board appointed by the Governor of Western Australia:

one person who was not a licensed agent who was also appointed Chair;

one person experienced in commercial practice and not a licensed agent;

one person who was a legal practitioner and not a licensed agent;

one licensed real estate agent who was nominated by the Real Estate Institute of Western
Australia; and

one licensed agent who was elected by licensed agents.

Mr Mark Cuomo (Chairman)

Mr Mark Cuomo is a legal practitioner practising as a barrister. Mr Cuomo was
Chair of the Board from January 2005. He is also the Chair of the Building
Disputes Tribunal and the Painter's Registration Board. Until March 2010 Mr
Cuomo was also the Chair of the Builder's Registration Board.

Mr Paul Gabrielson (Commercial Practice Member)

Mr Paul Gabrielson is an Associate Member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants, a registered tax agent and is a principal in a public accounting
practice. He was appointed to the Board in December 2009.

Deputy: Ms Michelle Jenkins

Mr Glenn Cridland (Legal Practitioner Member)

Mr Glenn Cridland is a legal practitioner practising as a barrister. Mr Cridland
was the Registrar of Fisheries and prior to that appointment the Chief Legal
Adviser to the United Nations Peace Keeping Force in East Timor. He was
appointed to the Board in December 2009.

Deputy: Dr John Hockley

Mrs Renate Brown (REIWA Nominated Member)

Mrs Renate Brown was the member nominated for appointment by the Real
Estate Institute of WA. Mrs Brown has operated her own real estate agency
since 1990, and combined this experience with 15 years as industry trainer for
various franchises and REIWA. She had been a deputy member of the Board
since 2003.

Deputy: Ms Jennie Bryant

Mr William Goddard (Elective Member)

Mr William (Bill) Goddard was the member elected for appointment by licensed
agents. Mr Goddard is also a Certified Practising Business Broker and member
of the Business Brokers Association (WA). He was president of the

Association from 2003 to 2010 and is the honorary treasurer. In 2004 he was
awarded Fellowship of the Real Estate Institute of Australia and in 2009 he won
REIWA'’s Kevin Sullivan Award.

Deputy: Mr Oscar D'Souza
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Other key legislation impacting on the Board

The Board complied with the following statutes in performing its functions:

Auditor General Act 2006;

Criminal Code Act Compilation Act 1913
Disability Services Act 1993;

Electoral Act 1907;

Equal Opportunity Act 1984;

Fair Trading Act 20107;

Financial Management Act 2006;
Freedom of Information Act 1992;

Legal Profession Act 2008;

Magistrates Court Act 2004;

Mutual Recognition (Western Australia) Act 2010;
Mutual Recognition Act 2010 (Cwilth);
Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984;
Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003;
Public Sector Management Act 1994;
State Administrative Tribunal Act 2004;
State Records Act 2000;

State Supply Commission Act 1991;
Strata Titles Act 1985;

Supreme Court Act 1935; and

Workers Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981.
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PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT
FRAMEWORK

Outcome Based Management framework

The primary service of the Board was to regulate the real estate and business broking
industries. This was achieved through the discharge of its statutory functions: licensing,
compliance, education and awareness, and the administration of the Fidelity Guarantee
Account and the Home Buyers Assistance Account. The effective regulation of the industry
enabled the Board to achieve its desired outcome that people had confidence in the industry.
This ultimately contributed to meeting the Government’s goal of achieving results for the benefit
of all Western Australians.

Government goal Board’s desired outcome Service

Outcomes Based Service  The people of Western Regulation of the real
Delivery Australia have estate and business
Greater focus on confidence in the real broking industries
achieving results in key estate and business through the discharge
service delivery areas for  broking industries. of the Board’s

the benefit of all Western statutory functions.
Australians.

Changes to Outcome Based Management framework

The Board’s Outcome Based Management framework did not change during 2010-11.

Shared responsibilities with other agencies

The Board did not share any responsibilities with other agencies in 2010-11.
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REPORT ON OPERATIONS

Service one: Licensing

Strategic objectives

For the 2010-11 reporting period the Board objectives were to:

= assist people seeking to obtain a licence, obtain or renew a triennial certificate or certificate
of registration, and to process such applications in accordance with the Act;

= assess the fitness® of people entering the industry, and of those remaining in the industry;

and

= audit the computer databases of the Department to ensure the information recorded is
accurate.

Performance

In 2010—11, the Board achieved the following outcomes:

= 322 applications for new real estate and business agent licences processed;

= 855 applications for real estate and business agent triennial certificate renewal processed;

=  97.52 per cent of new real estate and business agent licence applicants advised of the
outcome of their application within eight days of the Board’s decision;

= 1278 new applications for a sales representative’s certificate of registration processed;

» 1362 renewal applications for a sales representative’s certificate of registration processed,;

» 107 advisory and 12 breach non-compliance closure letters were issued by the Registrar to
agents or sales representatives and others;

= 100 per cent of agents renewal applications referred to the Board for decision within seven
days; and

= 99.71 per cent of sales representative’s renewal applications referred to the Board for
decision within seven days.

Overview

All real estate and business agents require a licence as well as a current triennial certificate in
order to carry on business in the industry in Western Australia. The licence issued by the Board
is continuous while the triennial certificate is to be renewed every three years.

The Board assessed licence applications to ensure that only suitably qualified people entered
the industry as agents. To create high standards of practice and behaviour, uniform minimum
standards of competency applied.

In 2010-11, the Board received 324 applications for real estate and business licences. This
figure represents a decrease of 49 over that reported for 2009-10. The Board dealt with 1360
applications from people seeking registration as sales representatives.

This represented an increase of 13 above that in 2009-10. During the reporting period the
Board conducted 57 recorded licensing interviews.

' The Act stipulates that to be granted and hold an agent licence (section 27(1)(b) of the Act) or certificate of registration (section
47(1)(b) of the Act) the successful applicant must be “...a person of good character and repute and a fit and proper person”. The
Board was required by the Act to take into account a number of factors when considering the suitability of an applicant. The factors
may vary depending if the person is an agent or sales representative.
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Fees- Real estate and business agents

The fees charged by the Board in 2010-11 in accordance with the Real Estate and Business

Agents (General) Regulations 1979 for real estate and business agent licensing applications

and real estate and/or business sales representative registration applications were as follows:

License New Applications:

Individual $882

Firm or Partnership/Body Corporate $1,088

Note: These fees are inclusive of a once off Fidelity Guarantee Account payment of $150

Triennial Renewal Applications: $430

Sales Representative New Applications: $217
Note: This fee is inclusive of a once off Fidelity Guarantee Account payment of $45

Sales Representative Renewal Applications: $141

The Board conducted its annual review of the fees in accordance with the Financial
Management Act 2006. This review was in line with the State Government’s policy that any
increases in fees are to be on a cost recovery basis. The Board's recommendation that the fees
be increased by the agreed Consumer Price Index of 3 per cent was approved by the Minister
for Commerce.

Holding fee

Agents who wish to continue to remain a licensee without holding a triennial certificate must do
so by paying a holding fee of $202 within the specified time frame. This puts the licence on hold
for a period of three years. At 30 June 2011, licences of 575 agents were on hold. Of these 205
were placed on hold during the reporting period.

Licensing kit

The Board produced a licensing kit that provided current information for new licence holders. It
included information on setting up trust accounts, auditing processes, the CPD program, the
Home Buyers Assistance Account and a licensee’s obligation to notify the Board when there are
changes in their personal or their agency’s details.

It provided information for licensed agents in other states and territories of Australia who have
obtained a Western Australian licence under the Mutual Recognition (Western Australia) Act
2010 and the Mutual Recognition Act 2010 (Cwilth). Board publications were included for
reference. The licensing kit was provided in hard copy to new licensed agents and sales
representatives and could also be downloaded from the Board'’s internet site at
www.reba.wa.gov.au. It was transferred to the Department of Commerce internet site at
www.commerce.wa.gov.au as of 1 July 2011.
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Service two: Compliance

Strategic objectives

In 2010—11, the Board strived to meet the following objectives:

= that real estate agents, business agents and sales representatives complied with the
requirements of the Act, the Regulations and the Code of Conduct;

= that in appropriate cases, the Board commenced proceedings before the State
Administrative Tribunal (the SAT), directed the Registrar to bring prosecutions in the
Magistrates Court against agents, sales representatives and other persons where there is
evidence of an offence against the Act and the Code of Conduct or other legislation
including the Criminal Code;

» that complaints were investigated promptly and dealt with by the Board in a timely manner;

» that prompt, accurate advice was given to industry members and the public; and

= that audit reports were received on time and all qualified reports were investigated.

Performance
In 2010-11, the Board achieved the following outcomes:

General compliance

= 417 investigations commenced;

» 435 investigations completed;

» 107 advisory and 12 breach non-compliance closure letters were issued by the Registrar to
agents or sales representatives and others;

= 98.95 per cent of complaints acknowledged within seven calendar days; and

=  82.86 per cent of investigations commenced within 14 days.

Financial compliance

= 335 qualified audit investigations commenced;

= 337 qualified audit investigations completed;

= 97.91 per cent of investigations into qualified audit reports commencing within 14 days of
lodgement;

= B4 trust account investigations commenced;

= 78 trust account investigations completed; and

= 08.15 per cent of trust account investigations commencing within 14 days.

Conciliation

= 176 conciliations commenced;

= 165 conciliations completed,;

=  98.86 per cent of conciliations acknowledged within seven days;
= 96.02 per cent of conciliations commenced within 14 days; and
= 08.79 per cent of conciliations completed within three months.

General compliance

The Board, its inspectors and Registrar had powers of investigation, which it exercised to
determine whether agents and sales representatives and others were complying with the
requirements of the Act, the Regulations, the Code of Conduct and any conditions of their
licence and/or certificate.
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These powers of investigation were also used to determine whether any other cause existed to
render an agent unfit to hold a licence and a triennial certificate, and sales representatives unfit
to hold a certificate of registration.

When the Board received a complaint or the matter was otherwise brought to its attention, the
Registrar determined whether it required investigation. If the preliminary assessment identified
sufficient cause for concern, then the Registrar issued a direction for a formal investigation to
proceed.

Where the Registrar directed a formal investigation into a complaint, an inspector would seek
further information from the agent or sales representative or other person concerned, and any
other relevant person. At the conclusion of an investigation the Registrar may have taken one or
more of a range of actions.

Where an investigation or inquiry revealed evidence of non-compliance with the Act and/or
Code of Conduct, the result would not always be an application to the State Administrative
Tribunal (SAT) for disciplinary proceedings or prosecution in the Magistrates Court.

Depending on the circumstances, the Board or Registrar may have decided to issue an advisory
letter or breach for non-compliance, or otherwise close the matter. Alternatively, the Registrar
could recommend that the Board commence proceedings against the agent and/or sales
representative or other person.

Factors such as, the nature of the conduct, the person acknowledging the breach or non-
compliance, actions taken to prevent future occurrence, age of the matter, and the strength of
the evidence available were taken into consideration. In this reporting period, 10 proceedings
were commenced in the SAT, and seven were completed. No proceedings in the Magistrates
Court were commenced.

The total number of new investigations commenced into the conduct of agents increased from
398 in 2009-10 to 417 in this reporting period.

Financial compliance

The Act sets out how trust account records are to be maintained by agents who hold a current
triennial certificate.

Agents are required to appoint an auditor of their trust accounts at the time of applying for their
licence. The Act requires the auditor to submit to the Board, by 31 March each year, an audit
report of the agent’s trust accounts. The Board treated all qualified audit reports as a priority
issue.

Apart from qualified audit reports being received from auditors, there are three main ways that
non-compliance with the trust account provisions were provided to the Board, they were:

* through a complaint;

* during an investigation; and

« financial institutions notifying the Board when a trust account became overdrawn.

During 2010—11, the Board commenced 335 investigations into qualified audit reports

compared to 319 from the previous reporting period. In addition, 54 trust account investigations
were commenced in 2010—11 in comparison to 66 recorded in the previous reporting period.
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Conciliation
The Act has provision for assistance to be given to parties in a transaction to resolve a dispute.
The assistance takes the form of a conciliation process.

Conciliators will arrange informal discussions between the parties to help in the conduct of
those discussions, and if possible, assist the parties to reach an agreement.

The conciliation service has proven to be an effective method of resolving minor complaints. In
the cases conciliated in 2010-11, 40 cases resulted in the parties reaching agreement. In three
cases referred to conciliation, no action was required other than clarifying the facts for the
parties. In 27 cases the parties were unable to resolve the issue.

Of cases referred to conciliation, one was outside of the jurisdiction of the Board where the
parties would have had to seek assistance elsewhere.

There were eight cases where complaints were not justified.

The average time taken to complete a conciliation matter was 36.26 days.
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Service three: Education and awareness

Strategic objectives

The Board met the following education and awareness objectives in 2010-11:

= conducted proactive visits to agencies;

= provided industry seminars to assist agents and sales representatives to comply with the
Act and the Code of Conduct;

» provided a counter information service to members of the public and industry;

» provided a telephone information service to members of the public and industry;

= supported and funded education programs for the professional development of agents and
sales representatives;

» developed educational material, including brochures and guides, for distribution to industry
and members of the public;

= published the quarterly newsletter, REBA News, for distribution to licensees, sales
representatives, and auditors;

= published frequent e-Bulletins; and

= provided up to date information on the Board’s internet site and made further improvements
for industry and members of the public.

Performance

In 2010-11, the Board achieved the following outcomes:

= conducted 603 proactive compliance visits to agencies, which included 57 visits to agencies
outside of the metropolitan area;

= five issues of REBA News were published and distributed, including one special edition
regarding the Boards abolition; and

= 15 e-Bulletins were distributed to approximately 9000 licensees, sales representatives, and
auditors.

Compulsory Professional Development

The Board’s Compulsory Professional Development (CPD) initiative continued in the second
half of 2010 for all individual licensed real estate and business agents and registered sales
representatives, including those restricted to property management only, and the strong
compliance rates showed that the real estate industry was fully embracing the program. In these
six months, a total of 130 mandatory sessions were conducted in metropolitan and regional
areas on behalf of the Board by the Real Estate Institute of Western Australia (REIWA), West
Coast Property Training (WCPT) and Kaplan Professional. This was an increase of 62 sessions
compared to the same period in 2009.

Improved reporting facilities and procedures within the Real Estate Branch resulted in tighter
monitoring of CPD compliance across the industry and this resulted in increased rates of
compliance. A mailout by the Board in late 2010 to all non-compliant individual licensed agents
and sales representatives saw a spike in enrolments and attendances to sessions, and
contributed to the improved compliance in that year.

In the reporting period there were 84 elective course providers offering a total of 1062 activities
from which participants could choose to complete their CPD requirements. The Board resolved
to extend the contracts awarded to REIWA, WCPT and Kaplan Professional to deliver the
mandatory component of CPD in 2011. The contracts to develop the mandatory activity material
and produce the distance learning packages for 2011 were again awarded to WCPT. In the first
six months of 2011, a total of 115 mandatory sessions were held by REIWA, WCPT and Kaplan
Professional.
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Information services

Under the Service Delivery Agreement (SDA) the Board obtained advice line services through
the Department of Commerce. In 2010-11, the Real Estate and Settlement Advice Line
answered 6517 telephone enquiries from the public seeking information. Of the telephone
enquiries received, 91.1 per cent were answered within 40 seconds.

Proactive compliance

The Board conducted a Proactive Compliance program that is unique in Australia. The purpose
of the program was to promote and improve the level of voluntary compliance and ethical
standards in real estate and business broking industries. The Board’s Proactive Compliance
Officers visited agencies to provide advice and examine the level of adherence to legislative
requirements. Participation by agents was voluntary. During 2010-11, the Board conducted 603
proactive visits to agencies. Of those visits, 57 were carried out in regional areas and 137 were
new agents. Mandurah and surrounding suburbs were considered Perth metropolitan.

Proactive compliance visits were carried out in accordance with a standard process, which

includes looking at:

=  trust account reconciliation;

= correspondence and documents including trust account receipts to ensure they conformed
with the Act, the Regulations, and the Code of Conduct;

= potential conflict of interest;

*= appointment to act;

= CPD compliance;

= sale files; and

»  property management files.

Where non-compliance in any area was identified, practical advice and guidance was given on
how the agency may correct the problem and comply with the requirements of the Act, the
Regulations, and the Code of Conduct. The visit was stopped for very serious breaches. The
majority of feedback obtained from agents who have participated in the program, indicated that
the proactive compliance visits were helpful and informative.

This program, along with Compulsory Professional Development, was well received by the
industry, and is likely to have assisted in reducing the number of complaints lodged during the
reporting period.

Education funding

The Board provided financial support to promote its education objectives. The Board used a
prescribed proportion of the interest earned from real estate and business agents trust accounts
for this purpose. Funding was used to support the delivery of necessary and appropriate training
courses to assist in the professional development of industry participants; namely, registered
real estate and business agents, and sales representatives.

As of 1 January 2010 the education funding was awarded to the three training providers of the

Compulsory Professional Development (CPD) program. The three successful tenders for CPD
were submitted by REIWA, West Coast Property Training, and KAPLAN Professional.
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REBA News

The Board produced a quarterly newsletter REBA News, to provide information to industry
members and relevant stakeholders. The newsletter provided updates on industry practice
issues, case studies from the Board'’s disciplinary proceedings, legislative amendments and any
other relevant, topical issues such as the Compulsory Professional Development (CPD)
program and CPD course dates. REBA News was mailed to all licensees, sales representatives
and auditors.

A special edition of the REBA News concerning the transfer of responsibility from the Board to
the Department was published and distributed in both electronic and physical formats.

The newsletter was issued to approximately 13,000 industry members each quarter.

REBA e-Bulletin

The e-Bulletins were a convenient way for the industry to receive the latest information on
issues relevant to the real estate industry in Western Australia.

The e-Bulletins were distributed once a month and more frequently if required.

The e-Bulletins provided the Board with the opportunity to notify industry of any urgent
information such as the Board's abolition and scam updates.

In 2010-11 15 issues were published and sent to approximately 9000 agents and
representatives.

Publications

REBA produced publications targeted at both consumers and industry members with the aim of

providing important information on a broad range of topics concerning the real estate and

business broking industries in WA. These publications were:

= A guide to auditing real estate and business agents trust accounts;

= A guide to investigations and disciplinary proceedings;

= A guide to the Compulsory Professional Development program;

»  Buying a home through an agent;

»  Buying vacant land;

= Complaint handling guidelines for the settlement and real estate industries;

= Home buyers assistance account;

» Information for complainants — Real estate and business broking industries;

» Licensing of real estate and business agents — Registration of real estate and business
sales representatives;

=  Obligations of property developers;

» Real estate auctions;

» Real estate fees — negotiating with an agent;

= Real estate trust accounting — A reference manual,

=  Sale by offer and acceptance;

= Timber pest inspections and reports — A guide for home buyers; and

=  You and your property manager.

The Board, in conjunction with the Department of Commerce, also produced the publication

Managing residential property. This guide is aimed at property managers looking for a ‘best
practice’ approach.
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The Board continually updated and improved these publications and in the last financial year
has seen numerous fact sheets and booklets reviewed including; Obligations of property
developers, Real estate fees, Timber pest inspections, You and your property manager, A guide
to auditing real estate and business agents’ trust accounts, and Managing residential property.

Website

The Board’s website — www.reba.wa.gov.au — was an integral tool in assisting the Board to
conduct and promote education and provide advisory services to industry participants and the
public. It allowed industry participants to access important information regarding a range of
topics including licensing and registration requirements, compliance, the CPD program and how
to lodge a complaint.

Visitors to the internet site could view electronic versions of industry publications, lists of current
licence and registration holders and past editions of REBA News and the REBA e-Bulletins.

It also provided valuable information for first home buyers, people wishing to sell a property,
tenants, landlords, auditors and members of the public wanting to know more about the real
estate and business broking industries in Western Australia.

The majority of the relevant content on the website was transferred to the Department of
Commerce’s website at www.commerce.wa.gov.au/consumerprotection .
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Service four: Fidelity Guarantee Account

Strategic objectives

The purpose of the Fidelity Guarantee Account (FGA) is to provide financial reimbursement to
people who suffer pecuniary loss or loss of property through the criminal or fraudulent actions of
a licensee (during a period when holding a current triennial certificate), in the course of
business. This also includes the actions of such licensee’s employees.

Performance

2010-11 saw the following outcomes:

= 27 claims lodged against the Fidelity Account;

» 9 Fidelity Account claims completed;

= 96.15 per cent of claims acknowledged within eight days; and

» 96.3 per cent of claim assessments commenced within 14 days.

Overview

The FGA is financed through contributions from agents, interest on agents' trust accounts, and
interest generated on the FGA. The FGA is kept at Treasury, forming part of the trust fund
constituted under section 16 of the Financial Management Act 2006. Money standing to the
credit of the FGA is invested with Treasury, and income derived from this is credited to the FGA.

The criteria for making a claim are:

= the applicant has suffered financial loss or loss of property;

» the loss was due to the defalcation (which includes criminal or fraudulent conduct) of a
licensee or their employee;

= the licensee holds a current triennial certificate; and

» the loss occurred in the course of the business of the licensee.

Morgan Realty Pty Ltd

A number of claims have been received in relation to real estate transactions conducted by
Morgan Realty Pty Ltd. To 30 June 2011 the Board received 12 claims totalling $4,267,800.

Fidelity Guarantee Account claims lodged

Financial year 2006-07 2007-08 2008-09 2009-10 2010-11
Number of claims 134 160 101 22 27
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Service five: Home Buyers Assistance Account

Strategic objectives

The Home Buyers Assistance Account was established to assist first home buyers financially
toward meeting the incidental expenses incurred when purchasing an established or partially
built home through a licensed real estate agent.

In 2010-11, the Board met these objectives by ensuring first home buyers were made aware of
the Home Buyers Assistance Account, and by providing a grant of up to $2,000 to off-set
expenses such as registration fees, solicitor and/or conveyancing fees, valuation fees,
inspection fees, establishment fees, mortgage insurance premiums and lending institution fees
associated with lodging the application.

Performance

2010-11 saw the following outcomes:

» $4,170,458 paid out of the account;

» 2358 applications received;

» 2150 grants approved; and

* 100 per cent of cheques issued within eight days of approval.

Number of applications and grants

The table below provides a comparison of the number of Home Buyers Assistant Account
applications and approvals processed by the Board from 2010-11 and previous financial years.

Financial year 2006-07 2007-08 2008-09 2009-10 2010-11

No of applications 1,812 4,381 5,895 4,995 2,358

No of approvals 1,543 4,165 4,949 5,244 2,150

Total amount paid ~ $3,048,698  $8,180,158 $9,711,402 $10,112,329 $4,170,458
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ACTUAL RESULTS VERSUS BUDGET
TARGETS

Financial targets

2010-11 Target" 2010-11 Actual  Variation®
Total cost of services $23,086,047 $14,426,196 $8,659,851
(expense limit)

Net cost of services ($3,876,131) $6,089,784 $9,965,915

Approved full time 8.8 8.6 (0.2)
equivalent staff level

Summary of Key Performance Indicators

2010-11 2010-11 Variation®
Target Actual
Board’s desired outcome: 86 per cent 86.99 per cent 0.99 per
The people of Western Australia cent

have confidence in the real estate
and business broking industries.

Key effectiveness indicator:

The extent to which real estate and
business agents comply with the
requirements of the Real Estate
and Business Agents Act 1978 in
relation to the management of their
trust accounts.

Service: $3,970.84 $3,938.02 $32.82

Regulation of the real estate and
business broking industries
through the discharge of the
Board’s statutory functions.
Key efficiency indicator:

The average cost per licensed
agent, of regulating the real
estate and business broking
industries.

1 g . )
As specified in the budget statements for the year in question

2 ] . . . .
Explanations for the variations between target and actual results are presented in the ‘Explanatory statement’ in the section ‘Notes
to financial statements’.

Explanations for the variations between target and actual results are presented in the ‘Detailed information in support of Key
Performance Indicators’.
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CURRENT AND EMERGING ISSUES AND
LEGISLATION CHANGES

Consumer Protection replaces the Board

On 25 November 2010, legislation was passed by the Western Australian State Parliament to
transfer responsibility for regulation of the real estate and business broking industry from the
Real Estate and Business Agents Supervisory Board (the Board) to the Department and the
Commissioner for Consumer Protection. The operations of the Board wound up on 30 June
2011 with transfer of its responsibilities occurring from 1 July 2011.

This change was part of the State Government’s commitment to reducing the number of
statutory Boards and committees in WA. Abolition of the Board, along with three other statutory
licensing Boards, allows for a more streamlined operating structure with a single regulator
across a number of property-related occupational areas and better integration with generalist
laws such as the Australian Consumer Law and Residential Tenancy Act 1987. The changes
also position the local property industry for the national harmonisation of licensing under the
National Occupational Licensing System, which is expected to begin on July 1, 2012.

From July 2011 the licensing authority of the Board was vested in the Commissioner for
Consumer Protection, and the Board’s financial responsibilities moved to the Director General
of the Department.

Australian Consumer Law

On 1 January 2011 a uniform Australian Consumer Law came into operation at the
Commonwealth level and in every State and Territory in Australia, meaning the basic consumer
laws are the same throughout Australia. The Australian Consumer Law is heavily based on
provisions in the Trade Practices Act 1974 and the Fair Trading Act 1987.

For transactions that took place before 1 January 2011 then the former law applies. For those
transactions the Fair Trading Act 1987, the Consumer Affairs Act 1971 or the Door to Door
Trading Act 1987 still apply. For transactions that took place after 1 January 2011 the Fair
Trading Act 2010 and/or the Australian Consumer Law apply.

The Fair Trading Act 2010 applies the Australian Consumer Law as set out on 1 January 2011
in Schedule 2 to the Commonwealth's Competition and Consumer Act 2010 (what used to be
called the Trade Practices Act 1974) as the Australian Consumer Law (WA). The ACCC
administer the Commonwealth's version of the Australian Consumer Law and WA will
administer the Australian Consumer Law (WA).

26

Real Estate and Business Agents Supervisory Board



/«

National Occupational Licensing System

On 30 in April 2009 the Council of Australian Governments (COAG) signed an
Intergovernmental Agreement to establish a national occupational licensing system (NOLS) for
specified occupations.

The Occupational Licensing National Law Bill 2010 was passed on 17 September 2010. The
NOLS will enable current holders of state and territory licences to be deemed across to the new
licence system at its commencement and establish a publicly available national register of
licensees.

From January 2011 the National Occupational Licensing Authority became operational and from
1 July 2012 NOLS will commence for the ‘first wave’ of occupations which will include licensed
real estate and business agents and sales representatives.
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AUDITOR GENERAL’S OPINION

12

Auditor General

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
To the Parliament of Western Australia
REAL ESTATE AND BUSINESS AGENTS SUPERVISORY BOARD

Report on the Financial Statements
| have audited the accounts and financial statements of the Real Estate and Business Agents
Supervisory Board.

The financial statements comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2011, the
Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Equity and Statement of Cash
Flows for the year then ended, and Notes comprising a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information,

Reporting Officer's Responsibity for the Financial Statements

The Real Estate and Business Agents Supervisory Board ceased to exist on 30 June 2011,
The Treaswer appointed a Reporting Officer under section 68 of the Financial Management
Act 2006 who was responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Treaswrer's
Instructions that are free from materal misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibiity

As required by the Auddtor General Act 20068, my responsibility s to express an opinion on the
financial statements based on my audt., The audit was conducted in accordance with
Australian Auditing Standards. Those Standards require compliance with relevant ethical
requirements relating to aud®t engagements and that the audit be planned and performed to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgement, ncluding the assessment of the risks of material messtatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers nternal control relevant to the Reporting Officer’s preparation and fair presentation
of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Reporting Officer,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

| believe that the audit evidence oblained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my
audit opinion.

Opinion

In my opinion, the financial statements are based on proper accounts and present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of the Real Estate and Business Agents Supervisory

Board at 30 June 2011 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended.
They are in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Treasurer's Instructions.

Page 10of 2
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Real Estate and Business Agents Supervisory Board

Report on Controls

| have audited the controls exercised by the Real Estate and Business Agents Supervisory
Board. The Board was responsible for ensuring that adequate control was maintained over the
receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of public and other
property, and the incurring of habilities in accordance with the Financal Management Act 2006
and the Treasurer's Instructions, and other relevant written law.

As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the
controls exercised by the Board based on my awdit conducted in accordance with Austrakan
Auditing Standards.

Opinion
In my opinion, the controls exercised by the Real Estate and Business Agents Supervisory

Board are sufficiently adequate to provide reasonable assurance that the receipt, expenditure
and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of
liabilties have been in accordance with legislative provisions.

Report on the Key Performance Indicators

| have audted the key performance indicators of the Real Estate and Business Agents
Supervisory Board. The Board is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the
key performance indicators in accordance with the Financial Management Act 20056 and the
Treasurer’s Instructions.

As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the
key performance indicators based on my audit conducted in accordance with Austrakan
Audtting Standards.

Opinion

In my opinion, the key performance indicators of the Real Estate and Business Agents
Supervisory Board are relevant and appropriate to assist users to assess the Board's
performance and fairly represent indicated performance for the year ended 30 June 2011

Independence
In conducting this audst, | have complied with the independence requirements of the Auditor

General Act 2006 and the Australian Auditing Standards, and other relevant ethical
requirements

&,

COLIN MURPHY
AUDITOR GENERAL
14 September 2011

Page 20of 2
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Certification of financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2011

The accompanying financial statements of the Board have been prepared in compliance with
the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to
present fairly the financial transactions for the financial year ended 30 June 2011 and the
financial position as at 30 June 2011.

At the date of signing | am not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars
included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

Reo:

Reporting Officer
7 September 2011
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June 2011

INCOME

Revenue

Agents trust account Income

Licence income

Contributions to the Fidelity Guarantee Account
Fines and costs

Interest revenue

Other revenue

TOTAL INCOME

EXPENSES

Employee benefits expense

Board fees

Supplies and services
Depreciation and amorisation expense
Accommodation expenses

Grants

Fideity payments

Other oxpenses

TOTAL EXPENSES
PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Other comprehensive iIncome

—

Real Estate & Business Agents Supervisory Board - 30 June 2011

t3ew

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ALOSS) FOR THE PERIOD

2011 2010

s s
14854856 10785478
1,008 861 1,052,028
106,075 109.213
41072 79,926
4344813 3338724
70,303 49372
20,515,980 15414741
924011 921,760
142,522 156,854
7.596.049 7.449.262
13,687 5316
21,401 15853
5430372 11,180,565
268919 97,392
29235 27.537
14,426,196 19,854,539

6,089,784 (44357 *ﬁ'!

0080784 (4,439,708)

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunciion with the accompanying noles,
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Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2011

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Receivadles

Total Current Assets

Non-Current Assets
Plant and equipment

Total Non-Current Assets

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables
Proviss
Licence revenue received in advance
Other crent liabilties

Total Current Liabllities
Non-Current Liabilities
Liconce revenue recaived in advance
Provisions
Total Non-Current Liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITIES

NET ASSETS

EQuITY
Retaned eamings

TOTAL EQUITY

Note

19.
19.
13.

16.
17.

Real Estate & Business Agents Supervisory Board - 30 June 2011

2011 2010
s s
32,586,296 31,717,376
55,356,488 50,889,381
2,426,123 1,956,628
90.368.907 $4,563,065
80,428 34,463
50,428 34,463
90,419,335 uIWI
530,475 761,006
187,658 159,001
921,270 909,332
8276 4,604
1,656,679 1,834,033
691,449 741,260
42,808 83,920
734,257 825,180
2,390,936 2,659,213
88,028,399 81.938.615
88 028 399 81,938 615
88,028,300 $1,038,615

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2011

Balance at 1 July 2009

Total comprebensive inCome for the year

Transacsons with Ownars in Wi Capacity 88 Owners
Capitad appropriations
Other contnibutions by owners
Distributions 1o owners

Total

Balance at 30 June 2010

Total comprehensive income o the year

Transactions with owners in ther Capacity &3 owners
Captal 3oororianons
Other contritutions by owners
Distributions 10 owners

Totad

Balance at 30 June 2011

—

Real Estate & Dusiness Agents Supervisory Board - 30 June 2014

oquity Reserves ecarnings Total equity
- - 85,378,413 85,378,413
(4.439.798) (4.439,798)

- - §1,938.6135 $1,933,615

6,089,784 6,060,784

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanmying notes.
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2011

Real Estate & Business Agents Supervisory Board - 30 June 2011

Note 2011 2010
$ $
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Recelpts

Agents trust account interest received 14,660,208 10,456,338
Bank and investmant interest receved 4,082,804 3216
Licence roceipts 1,060,983 1183923
Contributions paid into Fidelity Guarantee Account 106,075 109213
GST receipts on sales . .
GST receipts from taxation suthority - 192,079
Othwr raceipts 98,447 529,358
Payments

Employee benefits (938, 468) (914,586)
Supples and services (7.979,539) (7,804,856)
GST payments on purchases (27.618) {(203,007)
Grants (5.699.292) (11,180,565)
NET CASH PROVIDED BY/USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES 19 5,565,699 (4,464,471)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of non-current physical activites (29.652) (27.589)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (29.652) {27.389)
Net increase/decrease in cash and cash equivalents 5,336,047 (4.492,060)
Cash and cash equivalents st the beginning of period 82808737 87,098,797

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF PERIOD

3 1A

The Staement of Cash Flows Should De read in conunction with the accompamying notes.
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Real Estate & Business Agents Supervisory Board - 30 June 2011

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2011

Note 1. Australian Accounting Standards

Genoral

The Board's financial statements for e year ended 30 June 2011 have been prepared in SCoordances with Australisn Accounting
Standards. The term ‘Australisn Accounting Standandy’ refers 10 Standards and Inlerpretations issued by the Australian Accountng
Standard Boad (AASB)

The Board has adopted any appiicable, new and revised Austraian Accounting Standards fom ther operative dates.

Early adoption of standards

The Board cannct earty adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless speafically permitied by T1 1101 Appiication of Australian
Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements. No Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued or amended but not
operative have been carly adopted by the Board for the annual reporting penod ended 30 June 2011,

Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies

(a) Genersl Statement

The finsncial statements constinute general purpose Snancial statemants Tt Rave DOeN Crepared in SCCOrdance with the Australian
Accountiing Standards, the Framework, Siastements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative proncuncements of the Australian
Accounting Standards Board as appled by the Treasurer's Instructions. Several of !hese are modified by the Treasurers Instructions o
vary applcation, disclosure, format and wording.

The Financisl Management At and the Treasurer's Insiructions are legisiative provisions governing the preparaton of fimancial
Satemants and ke precedence over Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other
authoritatve pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board.

Where modfication is required and has had a material or signiScant Snancial efect upon the reported results, detals of that modiScaton
and the resulting financial effect are Cisciosed in the noles 1 e fnancial statements.

(b) Basis of Preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using e Nstorcal COst CoOMINtion

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been consistendy applied throughout all periods
presented uniess otherwise stated.

The fnancial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values 808 rounded 10 the neares!t Sollar unkess Ctharwise stated.

There have been no judgements made in the process of applying the Board's accounting policles that have significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements.

There have been Ao estimations CONCHMING uNCArtanty that may Ciuse material aciustments 1 the camying amounts of assets and
liasbiies within e raxt feancal year

(¢) Reporting Entity

The reporting entity comprises only the Board and there are no retated bodies. The Acts Amendment (Fair Trading) Act 2010 abolshed
he Board as an entity at 30 June 2011, Also see Note 27,

(d) Income

Revenus Recogniion

Reverue is moasured at the far value of considenation received o recoivable. Revenue is recognised for the major busingss activities as
follows:

a) Proceeds from Yiennial licensing fees are allocated over 36 months from the month of receipt. The portion of Scensing fees which

relate 1o He current yeir e o as . The inder of the pe 33 800 rOCOGNISAC B8 FEVENUS NCoved in avance.
b) Interest revenue s recognised as the interest acinues.
Gaing

Gains may be realised or unrealised and are usually recognised on a net basis. These include gains arising on the dsposal of non-
current assets.

(o)mmw

mumwmmmssoooumnwummumummuw(aam)
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Real Estate & Business Agents Supervisory Board - 30 June 2011

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2011

il recoaniion and Mesurement
Al items of plant and equipment are intially recognisad at cost.
For items of plant and equipment acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost i the fair value at the date of acquisison,

Subsequent measremant
ANDr 1aCOgNton 38 81 53561 e Board uses the cost mocel with 3l tems of plant and equipment Carried &t Cost less acoumulaed
Geprociation and accumulated imparment sses.

Qeoreciation
All pon-Carrent assets having a limited usefd ife are systematically depreciated over their estimated useful fves in & manner Bt refects
B9 CONSUMDLON of THr ALOXe OCONOMIC Denafits.

Depreciation Is calculated using the straight Iine method, using rates which are reviewed annually. Estimated useful lives for each dass
of deprecable asset are:

Computers hardware 3 yoars
Office and other equipment 5 years

(N impaiment of Assets

Plant and equipment is tested for any INGICation of IMpairment at 1he and of each reporting period. Where thare is an indication of
impairment, the recoveradie amount is estimated, Where the recoverable amount s less than the camying amount, the asset is
considered impakred and is weitten down 10 the recoverable amount and an impakment loss is recognised. As the Board is a not-for-profit
eniity, unless an asset has been identified as a surplus assat, the recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs o
sl and degrociated replacement cost.

The risk of imparment is generally limited 1o Crcumstances where an assel's depreciation is materially understated, where ™he
replacement cost is falling or where there is a signficant change In useful ife. Each relevant dass of assets is reviewed annually to verify
that the accumuiated depreciation reflects the level of consumpltion or expiration of assat's Sure economic benefits and 10 evakuate any

The recoverable amount of assets identified as surpius assets is the higher of fair value less costs 1 sell and the present value of future
cash flows expectad 10 be derived from the assel. Surplus assets Carried at fair value have no risk of material impairment where fair
value is Catermined by referancs 10 market-Dasad avidencs. Where fai value is determined by referencs 10 depracisted replacement
cost, surplus assets are at risk of Impairment and the bl amount IS Measured. Surpius assets M cost are lested for indications
of impairment at the end of each reporting period.

Refer 10 note 15 Impakrment of assets’ for the cutcome of imparment reviews and testing.

(9) Loases
The Board holds a number of operating leases for moltor vehicies. Lease payments are expensed on a straght ine basis over the lease
term as this represents the pattern of benefits derived from the leased motor vehicles.

() Financial instruments

In ECition o cash, the Board has wo Categones of inancial instrument:
* Recevabies; and

« Financial liabities measured at amortised cost.

Financisl instruments have been disaggresated into e following casses:

Financial Assets
« Cash and cash equivalents
* Receivables

Financial Liabities
« Payaties

Initial recognition and measurement of Sinandial insruments is at fair value which normally equates 10 the ransaction cost o the face
value, S0S0GUent MAaSUemant is 3L AMOrised cost LSing the affective interest method

The falr value of shortterm receivables and payabies is the transaction cost or the face value because there is no interest rate applicable
and subsequent measurement is not required as the effect of discounting is not material.

(i) Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash and cash equivalent) assets comprise
cash on hand and shoct-term deposits with onginal maturiSes of throe months or less that are readily convertitie 10 a known amount of
cash and which are subject 1 insignificant risk of changes in value.
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Real Estate & Business Agents Supervisory Board - 30 June 2011

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2011

() Recaivables
Receivabies are recognised and carried at orginal iwoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts (Le. imparment), The
mdmumnnmmammmmmmam“mmu

't The alio for uncollectble amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when there is objective evidence ™at the Board will
mum»mmmmmmnwnumuuummmwm

Refer 1o note 2(h) Financal Instruments’ and note 13 ‘Receivables’.

(k) Payables
Payables are recognised at the amounts payatie when the Board becomes obliged 10 make future payments as a result of a purchase of
assets or services. The carrying amount is equivalent 10 falr value, as they are generally setfed within 30 days.

Rafer 10 note 2(h) Financial istruments” and note 16 Payables’.

(1) Provisions

Provisions are lablities of uncertain timing and amount and are recognised where there is a present legal or constructive obligation as a
result of 8 past event and when the outiow of resources embodying economic benefits is probable and a reliable estimale can be made
of the amount of the ciigation. Provisions are reviewed 3t the end of each reporting penod.

Erovisions - emeioyes benefits

Anrual leave and long servics leave

The Sabdity for annual and long service leave expected to be setSed within 12 months afler the reporting period is recognised
and measured at the undscounted amounts expected to be pakd when the lablities are setfied. Annual and long service leave
@xpecied 10 be setfied more than 12 months afer the reporting period is measured at the present vakus of amounts expected o
Do paid whan the kabiBes aro sattied. Leave labiities 8 in respect of 3arvicas provided by empioyess up 10 e end of the
reporting pernod,

When assessing mxpecied future payments consideraion is given 1o expecied future wage and salary levels induding non-salary
COMPONENnts SuCh 3 emMpioye’ SUDEraNNUAtion conritutions. In additon, the long senvice leave Eabilty also considers the
SXDANNCE Of 0Mpioyee depanures and penods of service,

The expected future payments are discounted using market ylelds at the end of the reporting period on national government
bonds with terms 10 maturity that maich, as closaly as possible, the estimated future cash cutfiows.

Al annual leave and unconditonal Iong SENVICe Iave provisions are classifiod as cument liabiities as ™he Board coes not have
an unconditional right to defer settiement of the labiity for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

Superannuation

The Government Empioyees Superanamuason Bowd (GESB) in accordance with legaiative requirements sdministars public
$Secior superannuation arrangements in Western Australa,

Empioyees may contribute 10 the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme now dosad 10 new members or 10 the
Gold State Superannuation Sch (GSS), 8 defined beneft lump sum schame also cosed 10 New Mambers,

Employees commencing employment prior 10 18 Aprll 2007 who were not members of the Pension or the GSS became non-
contriutory members of the West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS). Employees commencing empioyment on or after 16
Apl 2007 became members of the GESB Super Scheme (GESSS). Both of thesa schemes are accumudation schemes. The

Board makes concurrent contributions 10 GESB on behall of empioyess in pkance with the C: i Governments
Superannuation Guanantoe (Adminisiration) Act 1092, These conributions extinguish T adiity for SUDEFANNUATON ChNges in
respect of the WSS and GESSS,

The Pension Schemes and the pre-transfer baneft for employees who Fransferred to the GSS are defined benefit schemes.
Thesa benafits are wholly unfunded and the liabiities for future payments ane provided for 8t the end of ths repdrting penod,
The kabiites under ™ese schemes have been calculated separately for sach scheme annually by PricewaterhouseCoopers
using the projected unit credt method.

The expeciod Julro Dayments are dScountad 10 Present value using markat yiekds at the end of the reparting Period on national
Qovarmment bonds with lerms 10 maturity that maich, as cosely as possible, the estimated future cash cutfiows.

The GSS, the WSS and the GESBS, where the current service superannuation charge is paid by the Board 1o the GESS, are
defined conrution schemes.  The labiities for current service superannuation charges under the GSS, the WSS and the
GESBS are extinguishad by the CONCuTent payment of empioyer contritutions 10 the GESS.

The GSS Is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole-of-government reporting. Mowever, fom
_Bowd's perspective, apart from the transfer benefits, it is a defined contribution plan under AASS 110,
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Provigicns - other

Empioyment on-costs

Employment cn-<costs, induding workers' compensation insurance, are not employee benefits and are recognised separately as
abiites and exp whan the empioyment 10 which they relale has occurred. Employment on-costs are included as part of
‘Other Expenses’ and not included as part of the Board's 'Eagloyes benefits axpensy’. The refated Kabiity is ncluded in

(m) Superannuation Expense

The suptrannuation expense of the defined beneft plans is made up of the following elements:
Current sanvics cost;

Interest cost (umwinding of the discount);

Actuarial gains and losses; and

Past service cost.

Actuarial gains and losses of the defined banefit plans are recognised immediately a3 Income or expense in the Statement of
Comprehensive income,

The superannuation expense of the defined contritution plans is recognised as and when the contributions fall due.

Refer 1o note 2(1) Provisions - Employes Benafits’ under Superannuasion,

(n) Accrued Salaries

Actrued sslaries (refer 10 note 16 Payaties’) represent the amount due 10 staff but unpaid ot the end of the financial year, as the pay

date for the last pay penod for hat financial year does not coiNcide with the end of e finandial year. Accrued salaries are setied within a
fortright of ™he financial year end. The Board considers the Canying amount of 30Crued Salanes 10 be equivalent 10 its met fair value.

(o) Comparative Figures
Comparative figures ae, whore appropriate, reciassified 10 be comparable with the figures presanted in e current financial year.

Note 3. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates

Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard

The Board has appied T following Australiian Accounting Standards effactive for annual reporting penods baginning on or after 1 July
2010 that impacted on the Board.

2009-5 Further Amendments 10 Australian Accounting Standards aniging from e Annual improvements Project [AASS §, 8, 101,
107, 117, 118, 136 & 139]
Under amendments 10 AASS 117, the dassification of land elements of all existing |0ases Nas Doen reassessed ©
determine whether they are in the nature of operating or finance lcases. As leases of land & bulidings recognised in the
financial statements have not been found 10 significantly expose the Board 10 the risks/rewards atributable %0 control of
1and, 1O Changes 10 SCCouNnting estimates have been induded in the Financial Statements and Notes % e Financial
Statements.
Under amendments 10 AASS 107, only expendiiures that result in a recognised asset are eligible for dassification as
investing activities in the Statement of Cash Flows. Al investing cash fows reported in the Board's Statement of Cash
Flows relate 10 incressss in recognised assats.

Changes in accounting estimates
There were no changes in acoouning estimates that will have an effect on the aurrent reporting perod,

Future impact of A lian A ing Standacds not yet operative

The Board cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Stancard unless specfically permitied Dy T1 1101 Application of Australian
Accounting Standards and Other Proncuncements. Consequently, the Board has not applied earty any of the following Australian
Accounting Standards that have been issued that may impact the Board. Where appicable, the Board plans 10 apply these Australan
Accounting Standands from ther appiication date.

Operative for
reporting
peoriods
beginming
onlafter

AASB Amenciments 10 Ausiralian Accounting Standards ansing fom AASS 9 [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 1 Jan 2013
2009 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 121, 127, 128 131, 132, 136 139, 1023 & 1038 and

n" inferprotations 10 & 12]. The amendment 10 AASE 7 Financial Instruments’ Disciosures
requires modification 1o the disclosure of categories of financial assets. The Board does
not expect any financial impact when the Standard is first applied. The disclosure of
catoaonies of firancial assets in the notes will change.
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AASS 1053

AASE 2010-
2

AASB 2011-

AASB 2010-

AASB 2010-

AASB 2010~
7

AASB 1054

AASS 2011-

Agplication of Tiers of Australlan Accounting Standards. This Standard estabiishes a
Gifferential financial reporting framework consisting of two ters of reporting requirements
for preparing genersl purpose financial statements.
mswwmmmwwmmmw However it may affect
Gisciosures in the financial statements of the Board If the reduced disclosure
requirements apply. OTF has not yet determined the appiication or the potential impact
of the new Standard for agences.

Amendments fo Australian Accounting Standards arising from Reduced Disciosure
Roquirements. This Standard makes amendments 10 many Australian Accounting
Standards, incuding interpretations, 10 inroduce reduced disclosure requirements into
Dese pronouncaments ke application by certain types of entities.

The Stancand is not expected 10 have any francial mpact on e Board. However this
Standard may reduce some note cisciasures in nancial statements of the Boasd, DTF
has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the amendments 1o
these Standards for agencies.

Amendments fo Ausiralian Accounting Standards arising from the Trans-Tasman
Convergence Project = Reduced Disclosure Requirements [AASS 101 & AASS 1054]
This Amending Standard removes disdosure requirements from other Standards and
NCorporates ham in 8 single Standard 1o achieve convergence between Australian and
New Zoaland Accounting Standarnds for reducad disciosure reporting. DTF has not yet
determined the application o the potential impact of he amendments 10 thase
Standards for agendies.

Amendments 1o Ausiralian Accounting Standavds [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 101, 107, 112, 118,
119, 121, 132, 133, 134, 137, 139, 140, 1023 & 1038 andd inforpretations 112, 115, 127,
132 & 1042] (October 2010). This Standard introduces a numder of terminciogy
changes as well a3 minor presentation changes 10 the notes 10 the Financial Statements.
There is no financial impact on the Board resulting fom the application of this revised
Stndard,

Amendments 1o Ausiralian Accounting Standards - Disclosures on Transfers of
Financial Assols [AASB 1 & AASB 7). NWMMMI)W
Accounting Standands, inroducing addtional pr tation and disciosure requir ts
for Financial Assets.

The Standard 5 not expected 1o have any financial impact on the Board. DTF has not
yet determined e application or the potential impact of the amendments 10 these
Standards for agencies.

Financial instruments. This Standard supersedes AASS 130 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement, Introducing & number of changes 10 accounting
treatments.

Tha Standard was reissued on 6 Dec 2010 and e Board is currently determining the
irpact of 1w Standard. DTF has not yet determined the appication of the potantisl
impact of e Standard for agencies,

Amendments 10 Australan Accounting Standards avising fom AASE 9 (December 2010)
[AAS8 1,3, 4,5 7,101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 138, 137,
139, 1023 & 1038 and Intevpretations 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127]. This Amending Standard
makes consequential acjustments %0 other Standards as a result of issuing AASB 9
Financisl Instruments in December 2010. DTF has not yet determined the appication or
the potential impact of the Standard for agencies.

Australian Addonal Disciosures. This Standard, in conjunction with AASS 2011-1
Amendments 10 Australian Accounting Standards arising from e Trans-Tasman
Convergencs Project, removes disclosure requirements fom other Standards and
INCOMpOraNes them in a single Standard 10 achieve convergence between Australian and
New Zealand Accounting Standards.

Amendmenis 10 Australisn Accounting Standards arising from the Trans Tasman
Convergence Project [AASB 1, 5, 101, 107, 108, 121, 128, 132 & 134 and
inforprotations 2, 112 & 113], mmumswm " conunction with AASB 1054
Australian Addgitonal Disclosures, LT us #om other
Standards and incorporates them in a single Standard 10 achieve convergence between
Austrafian and New Zealand Accounting Standards.

1 Jul 2013

1 Jul 2013

1Jul 2011

1 Jan 2011

124 2011

1Jan 2013

1Jan 2013

1242011

1242011
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Note 4. Licence income
Proceeds from triennial lcensing fees are aliocated over 38 months fom the month of receipt.

Foos relatng 10 the curent fimancial year are recognised as revenue. The balance of the fees are credited into the Revenue received in

advance acoounts.
201 2010
$ $
Ravenue received in advance 1 July balance (current) 909,332 832470
Revenue received in advance 1 July balance (non current) 741,260 a8 227
Cash received during the yoor 1,060,988 1,183,923
Total receipts received 2711580 2,702,620
Revenue recognised during the year 1,058 881 1,052,028
Revenue received in advance 1612719 1,650,502
Held in
Revenue receved in advance sccount (Current) 2127 909,332
Revenue 1eceved in acvance ccount (non curment) 631,449 741260
Total 131!_"; 1,650,592
Note 5. Interest Revenue
2011 010
$ $
Interest from on call bank accounts 141,430 134,161
Interest from Investment accounts 4,203,383 3,204,563
Total 4344313 3,338,724
Note 6. Other revenue
2011 2010
$ $
Advertsernect fees 18,438 19,238
Contribution 1o vehicle use 4,880 2,642
Copy of licence 2,582 2,280
Late fees 18,070 18,054
Miscellaneous Income 26,335 7,158
372

Note 7. Employee benefits expense

The Board procures services from the Department of Commercs under 3 sarvice delivary agreement. The current arangamaent which
startad in e 1000/2000 financial year is for an ol inclusive fed foe, The wages and salaries figure below represents only that of
omployes cirecty empicyed by the Board,

201 2010

$ $

Wages and salanes 742113 73129
Change in Arrual Leave ™ 6.350 266
Change In Long Service Leave ™™ (21.271) 20,218
Superannuation expense 79,887 .78
Other staff related expenses ™ 116,962 nine

¥ inckades 3 SUperanrLAton CONYbULICN COMPOnEnt
B Other rolated axponses include training & conferences, Yavel, vehices and FBT,

Employmant 0n-Costs SUCh as workers' Compensation insurance are indluded at Note 12 'Other expenses’. The employment on costs
Rabiity Is inchuded at Note 17 Provisions’.
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Note 8. Supplies and services

201 010
$ $
Bank charges 3808 4719
Communications 5395 7922
Consultants and contraciors fees 281423 403,594
Consumadies 49372 21,738
Entertainment 19 -
Insurance 49313 20,108
Lega 189315 280,081
Masceilaneous s 5,126
Printing 491278 5138
Professional services 254 346 137974
Repak and maintenance 8204 346
Service Delivery Agreement 8672072 6476462
Software < $5,000 & Software Liconces 808 &0s
Statcoery 9225 530
Sundry assets costing under $5,000 27.745

_2 30,054
7,596,049 TA43.262_

The Service Delivery Agreement Costs cover the procurement of services from the Department of Commerce. The current agreement is
for a fixed fee which is reviewed annually.

Note 9. Depreciation

201 2010
$ $
Office & other equipment 13,687 5316
13,637 5316
Note 10. Accommodation expenses
2011 2010
$ $
Occupancy costs and parking 21,401 15,853
21,401 15853
Note 11. Grants
2011 2010
$ $
Egucation grants and funding for education
‘ 45571 45,351
REIWA 556843 522,929
West Coast Progarty Traning 857373 4837
Omer Education grants 12 1,933
Total education grarts 1,250014 1053430
Eirst home Buyvers orants 4,170,458 10,127,135
Total grants 5,430, 11,180,

A total of 2,150 Fiest Home Buyers grants totalling $4,170,458 at an average of $1,930 were made during the year. In 200010 5,244
grants totaling $10,127.135 at an average of $1,931 were made.
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Note 12. Other expenses

2011 2010

$ $

Audit fees 28,700 28,500
Employment on costs 535 5063;

™ Inciudes workers' compensation insurance and other employment on-costs. The on-costs Sabiity associated with the recogntion of
annual and long service leave lablRy is included at note 17 Provisions’. Superannustion ContribuBions accrued 33 parn of the provision
for leave are employee benefits and are not induded i employmant ON-Costs,

Note 13. Receivables

201 2010
$ s

CQurreny
AcCounts rechivable . Jeno
Accrued agents trust account interest 1,252847 1,058,199
Accrued rwestment interest 1,145,660 883,741
GST recoveratie 27618 11,018

X —0 N

Note 14, Property, Plant & Equipment

2011 2010
s $
Comouter Hardware
Al cost . 5574
Accumutated Depreciation - (5574)
Office & Other Eguipmant
At cost 79,640 49,906
Accumulsed Deprecisson (29 221E glsimi
4 X
Total Plart & Equipment 50,428 34,463

Reconciations of the camying amount of plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the reporting period are set out below.

Office & Other Equipment

Carmying amount at start of year 344683 12,190
Adations 29852 27589
ACCumdalod Coprociaton on GSsposals . .
Depreciation _{13.687) (5.316)
Carrying amount at end of year 0423 344583
Total Plant and equipment RAL SEARS

Note 15. Impairment of assets
There were no indications of impairment 10 plant and equipeent and intangible assets at 30 June 2011,

The Board held no goodwil o intangdie assets with an indefinite useful ife during the reporting period, and at the end of the reporting
period there were no intangitie assets not yet avaliable for use.

There were no surpius assats at 30 June 2011 held for sale o write off,
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Note 16. Payables

2011 2010
$ $
Trade payabies 180,686 610,923
Accrued expenses 346,794 134,941
Accrued salaries 11,995 15,142
539,475 761,006
Note 17, Provisions
201 2010
s $
Qurrent
Employee benefits provision
Asrual leave™ 48127 39,777
Long service leave™ 118,811 100,803
Superannuaton 15,087 11,827
180,025 152,107
Other provisions
Emgioyment on-costs’™ 7,633 8,594
T 187,858 159,001
Noo-current,
Empioyee benefits provision
Long servics leave™ 38,854 78,143
Superannuation 3.781 5410
42645 83553
Other provisions
Employment on-costs’™ 163 367
42808 q‘ﬁ_

W Annual leave listilties have been classified &3 current a3 thers is No unconditional right 10 defier sattiement Sor at keast 12 monehs afler
the feporting period. Assessments indicate that actusl setfement of the liabities will ocour as follows:

2011 2010
s H
Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 29,420 23428
Moce $han 12 months after the reporting period 18,707 16,352
L% 3o

™ Long service leave lablities have been classfied as current where there s no unconditional right 10 deder setSement for at least
12 months after Bhe reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual sattement of the labiities will occur as follows:

2011 2010
$ s

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period ™ 43588 70,039
More than 12 moaths after tha reporting pedod ! 114,109 108,907
L7 1)

' The semement of annual and long service leave RabiSes gives rise to the payment of empioyment on-costs inchuding worker's
compensation insurance. The provision is the present value of expecied future payments. The associsted expense, apart fom
wwinding of the dacount (nance cost), is dadiosed in Note 12 'Other axpanses’,
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M t in Other Provisi
2011 2010
$ $
Movements in each ciass of provisions during the financal yesr, other than empioyee benefits are sat out below.
£ -
Carrying amount at start of year 7,261 8224

Additional provisions recognised 535 963
Carrying amount at end of year 7,196 7,261

Note 18. Other liabilities

Currens
Undaimed monies 8276 4054

Note 19. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows

Cash resources are held exdusively for use by the Real Estate and Business Agents Supervisory Board under the provisions of the Real
Estate and Business Agents Act 1978,

Raconcligticn of cash
Cash ot the end of the financial year as shown in e Statament of Cash Flows is reconciad 10 the related tems in e Statement of
Financial Postion as follows:

2011 2010
$ $
Cash and cash equivalents st bank
Education and General Purpose Account 329,788 1,161,568
Fideity Guarantee Account (Restricted cash) 262,560 235,782
Home Buyers Assistance Account (Restricted cash) 2,083,353 2,413,004
Board Interest Account 500 500
Petty Cash 1,000 300
2647201 3.811,154
Cash and cash equivalents held with Treasury
Education and General Purpose Accout 32,255,008 30,555,008
Fideity Guaranies Account (Restricted cash) 41,255,575 33855575
Home Buyers Assistance Account (Restricted cash) 11,785,000 92353,000
iim1§ izw'lﬁ
Cash and cash equivalents 32,586,296 .77
Restricied cash and cash equivalents 55,358 488 $0.889 381
Total cash and cash equivalents i?iﬂzm 82,606,737
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Reconciliation of met cost of services to net cash flows provided by\used in) operating activities

2011 2010

s $

Prof 6,089,784 (4,439, 798)
Non-Ccash Boms.
Deprecation and amortisation expense 13687 5318
(Increase)Cocresse in XsSots
Current receivables’™ (469,408) (100,082)
C ot payables ' (221,531) (82,752)
Current provisions 28657 12659
Revenue received in advance, current lablites 11933 76,862
Other current labies 3583 (185)
Non-Current provisions (41,112) 8476
Reverus recaived in sdvance, non current kabities (49.811) 55,033
Net GST receipts\{payments|* (16,508) 8420
Change in GST in receivables/payables™ 16,508 |B.¢20;
Net cash provided byNused in) operating activities Bl (¢ 471)

W This s the net GST paidireceived, Le. cash transaction

™ This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables,

% Note that the Australan Taxation Office (ATO) receivabie/Dayable in respect of GST and B recsivadle/Dayable in respect of e
sale/purchase of non-current assets are not induded In these Rems as they do not form part of the reconciing items.

Note 20, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

Contingent Liabilities

In 8ddBon 10 the liabiles induded in he financial statements the Board Is aware of 77 daims (2010:48) against the Fidelity Guarantee
Account Wialing $6,338,763 (2010: $4,681,000) for which ro lability has been admitted by the Board.

Contingent Assets
The Board does not have any contingent assets in addition 10 the assets induded in the financial statements.

Note 21. Remuneration of members of the Board and senior officers
R ation of bers of the Board

The rumber of members of he Board, whose 10t of fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for the
financial year, fall within the following bands are

2011 2010

$0 - $10,000 ) 4
$10,001 - $20,000 . 4
$20,001 - $30.000 3 2
$30,001 - $40.000 1 .
$60,001 - $70,000 1 1

$ $
The weal remuneration of members of the Board: 172184 173335

The %l remuneration includes the superannuation expense iIncured by the Board in respect of members of the Board,

No members of the Board are members of the Pension Scheme.
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Remuneration of Senior Officers

The number of senior oficers, other Than serior officars reporied as members of the Board, whose sl of fees, salaries,
SUDErSNNUtON, NON-MOonetary benefits and other baneflits for the fnancial year, falls within the folowing Dands ane

2011 2010
$100,001 - $110,000 - 1
$120,000 - $130,000 1 -

3 s

The o8l remuneration iNdudes IHe SUDIANNUITON EXDENIA INCLUTEd Dy The Board in respect of Senior Ofcars other than senior ofices
reporied s members of e Board

No senior officers are members of the Pension Scheme.

The Board procures services from the Departmaent of Commaerce, The number of 3enicr Officers providing these Srvices e included in
the annual report of the Department.

Note 22. Remuneration of Auditor

Reeruneeation 10 the Austor General in respect 10 the Sudk for the current financial year &5 as follows;
201 2010

Auditing the accounts, financial statements and performance Indicators nm zm

Note 23. Segment (service) information

The service provided by the Board s Regulation” o ‘regulatory services” As there is only one service for the Board there is no separnte
reporting under Senvices.

Note 24. Supplementary financial information

Write-offs

The Board approve write-offs totaling $219 (2010: § nll) during the fimancial year.

Note 25. Commitments

Lease commitments

Commitments in refation 10 leases contracied for at the end of the reporting period But not recognised in the financial statements are
payable as follows:

2011 2010
s $
Within 1 year 21,202 28,395
Later than 1 year and not later than § years 14,984 23,900
Later than § years - -
XL 5228

Representing:
Non-<cancellable cperating leases 36‘!86 32|295

These commitments are inclusive of GST for vehicie leases pakd monthly In arrears. The lease torms are 12 10 36 months are with
StateFLeet.

The Board does not have any Capital of nance Nase COMMBMEents CONYACnd for St the end of the repomting Penod NOt FecogNised 3s
habdties
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Note 26, Special purpose accounts
Special Purpose Account [section 18(1)(c)] of FMA

The purpose of the trust account i 1o hold moneys:

1) from Real Estate and Business Agencies and Agents;

2) 83 8 result of legal proCaedEngs;

3) from 3 lquidator appointed Lo an agency;

4) from a Supervisor appointed to an agency following the end of that appointment;

5) from a Yrustee n bankruptcy, or

6) otherwise pending a drection fom the Real Estate and Business Agents Superviscry Board

The monies detaled below are not indluded In e Board's financial statements as they are being held in trust pending distribution and
form no part of the fimancial operations of the Board,

2011 2010

$ s

Balanca at the start of the yeu 243972 65,589
Recopts 12167 177,383
Payments (19.575) -
Balance at the end of the year 236564 243972

A further $3,022 in interest was subsequently received in July.
Note 27. Events occurring after the balance sheet date
The Board is not aware of any events oocurring after the end of the reporting period that materially affect these financial statements.

The Acts Amendment (Fair Trading) Act 2010 abolished the Board as an enticy at 30 June 2011, Amendments 1 e Real Estate and
Business Agonts Act 1978 vested all assets eic 1o the Department of Commerce at this cae.
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Note 28. Explanatory statement
Significant varations Detween estmates and actual resuits as presented in the Statement of Compredansive INCOme ane shown below,
Significant variations are considered 10 be those greater than 10% and $50,000

2) Significant variations between estimate and actual for the financial year

201 2011
Estimate Actual Variance
s s $
Expenses
Grants 10,402,400 5,430,372 (4,972,028)
Fidelity payments 3,716,000 268919 (3,647,081)
Grants

There are two components 10 grants, assistance 10 first home buyers and education grants associated with ™ continued professional

development (CPD) within he industry. Payments of grants 10 first home buyers where considerable less than estimated as the number
of appications dropped faster and further than anticipated when the budget was prepared.

Higher than anticipated demand within the industry for CPD resudted in higher than budgeted e3.cation grants.

Fidelity payments _ )

The Board sllowed in the budget full payment of contingent abilites for fidelity caims. Some of hese daims were not allowed o have
yot 10 be finaksed

b) Significant variations between actual results for actual year and prioe year actual

2011 2010 Variance
$ s s
Income
Agents ¥rust account interest 14,854 555 10,785,478 4,089,378
Interest revenue 4344513 3,338,724 1,006,039
Expenses
Grants 5430372 11,180,565 (5.750,103)
Ficelity payments 268919 97,3902 171527

Agents trust account interest
Income from inlorest on 8gents ust SCCounts 8 Nighar !han !he Crevious yodr due 10 hightr interest rates and higher balances held in
B USt acCouUnts.

Interest revenue
Higher Board account balances, in particular deposits held with Treasury combined with higher interest rates has resulted in a significant
INCr0a50 In revanud from Tis SOurce

Grants
A substantal reduction in the applications for first home buyer grants resuited in a significant reduction in associated grant payments
wared 1 the previ yoar,

Fidelty paymonts
The quantum and value of fidelty cams are outside the control of the Board. The Increase in costs s the result of increase value of
caims approved by the Board during the current financial year.
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Note 29. Financial instruments
(a) Financlal Risk Management Objectives and Policies

Financial instruments heid by the Board are cash and cash oquivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, recaivables and payaties,
The Board has limited exposure % financial rsks. The Board's overall nsk management program focuses on Managing the risks

Crodt risk

Credt risk arises when there is 1w possibiity of e Board's rocsivaties defaulting on Thir conractual obligations resuling in fnancial
o33 10 the Board.

The maximum exposure 1o credit risk 3t e end of the reporiing period in refation 10 each dlass of recognised financial assets is the

Gross carrying amount of Ise a53ets iInclusive of any provisions o IMpairment, 83 shown in the tatle at Note 29(¢) ‘Finandial
Instruments Disciosures’ and in note 13 ‘Receivables’,

The Board races only with recognised, crediteorthy thid parties. The Board has polices in place 10 ensure that services are rendered
10 Customers with an appropriate credit hstory. In adaition, recaivable Dalances &re monitoned 0N an 0NgOINg basis with the result that
the Board's exposure 10 bad debts is minimal. Al the end of the reporting penod, there Were No SIGNINCINE CONCINYItoNS of Credt risk.

Liquicity risk arises when the Board is unable to meet its financial cbiigations as they fall due. The Board is exposed 1 liquidity risk
through its trading in the normal course of busingss.

The Board has appropriate procedures 1 manage cash flows by monitoring forecast cash flows 10 ensure that sufficient funds are
avaiabin 10 meet its Commitmants.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in the market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will afect the Board's income
or the value of ks holdings of fnancial instruments.

The Board has no borrowings and does not ade in foreign Curmency and is not materially @xp086d 10 other prics risks.

The Board's exposure % market risk for changes in interest rates refate primarily 1o cash and cash equivalent holdings. Varations in
interest rates have 3 cirect impact on the Boards eamings.

Other than as detaled in the interest rate sensitvity analysis table at Note 20(c), the Board has lmited exposuns 10 interest rats risk.
(b) Categories of Financial Instruments

In a3citon % cash, ?he carmying amounts of 8ach of the following categories of financial assets and financial lisbiities at the end of the
reporting period are as follows:

2011 2010
S s
Enancal Assaty
Cash and cash equivalents 32,536,296 31,717,378
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 55,356,488 50,889,361
Recatvatios ™ 2426123 1,956,628
E ial Ligbd
Financial liabiities measured at amortised cost 2,160,470 2,416,292

(a) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivabie)
(c) Fi Al s Discl

Crecit Risk and Interest Rate Risk Cxposre

The folowing table ciscioses the Boards maximum exposurne 10 Cradit risk and intarest rate exposures of inancial assets. The Board's
maxmuam exposure 1o credit risk at the end of the reporting penod is the carying amount of the Snancial assets as shown Delow.

All francial assats and Babiites as at the end of the reporting period had a maturity date less than 3 months. For this reason a maturty
2nalysis has not been provided in the Labies,

The Board does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements relating 10 the Snancial assets it hokds,

The Bowrd Goes not hold any financiel assets that had 10 have their terms renegotiated thiat would have otherwise resulted in
past cue or mpgired,
' 4 J
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ADDITIONAL KEY PERFORMANCE
INDICATOR INFORMATION

Certification of Key Performance Indicators

| hereby certify that the key performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant
and appropriate for assisting users to assess the Board’s performance, and fairly represent the
performance of the Board for the financial year ended 30 June 2011.

Rt

Reporting Officer
7 September 2011
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Detailed information in support of Key Performance
Indicators

Effectiveness indicator

The extent to which real estate and business agents comply with the requirements of the Real
Estate and Business Agents Act 1978 in relation to the management of their trust accounts.

The Board’s aim was to positively influence the behaviour of industry participants through
effective compliance activities. The extent to which the people of Western Australia can be
confident that the real estate and business broking industry operates in accordance with
regulatory requirements was assessed by the level of compliance relating to the management of
trust accounts.

The Board’s experience was that the extent of compliance in respect to trust accounts was the
best single test providing a reliable indication of the extent to which agents are generally
complying with the requirements of the Act.

Breaches in relation to the management of trust accounts usually indicated other problems or
breaches that may be occurring within an agency.

An independent auditor conducted an examination of an agents trust account management and
provided an audit opinion to the Board in relation to the agents’ management of their trust
accounts. An unqualified opinion was issued when the auditor considered the agent’s trust
accounts were, during the period of the audit, kept in order. One aim of independent scrutiny
was to provide a level of confidence regarding the management of the trust accounts.
Therefore, the extent to which auditors submit unqualified audit opinions is an indication of the
degree of confidence that can be held in the industry.

Measure
The proportion of real estate and business agents that submit an unqualified audit report or a
statutory declaration

2006/07 2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11

Unqualified audit reports 773 778 800 823 845
Qualified audit reports 313 355 307 289 302
Statutory Declarations 1028 1147 1200 1159 1361
No Audit reports 56 38 17 14 28
Total number of agents 2170 2318 2324 2285 2536
% of agents submitting an 83 83 86.06 86.74 86.99
unqualified audit or Statutory

Declaration

Notes to the indicator

The Act requires licensed agents to manage monies received for or on behalf of their principals
(clients) through a trust account. If a licensed agent does not receive or hold any money on
behalf of a person in the reporting period then they must submit a statutory declaration
confirming this to be deemed compliant. A licensed agent (individual) may work for a company
and it is then the company'’s trust accounts that are audited.
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The Board placed significant reliance on audit reports to ensure that agents maintained their
trust accounts in accordance with the statutory requirements.

Since 2001-02, the Board maintained a ‘no tolerance’ policy towards agents who failed to
comply with the trust account auditing provisions of the Act. Where appropriate, the Board
commenced proceedings before the SAT alleging that there is proper cause for disciplinary
action regarding an agent or auditor’'s conduct. Where it was found that there was proper cause
for disciplinary action against the agent, then sanctions were imposed by SAT, which included a
reprimand, a fine, suspension, cancellation of the agent’s licence and triennial certificate, and
temporary or permanent disqualification.

This year the number of agents has increased by 251. There were 22 more unqualified audits
and 13 more qualified audits. The proportion of auditors delivering unqualified audit reports and
agents submitting statutory declarations has increased this year, from 86.74 to 86.99 per cent.

It was believed that the increase in the number of unqualified reports was due to agents better
understanding their responsibilities with regards to trust accounts. This increase in education
and awareness was due to improved systems for proactive compliance visits and the
Compulsory Professional Development program, as well as through articles in REBA News and
the promotion of the publication Real estate trust accounting — A reference manual.

Although the Board was concerned about the number of audits that were qualified, it believed
that to some extent this was a consequence of auditors becoming increasingly more aware of
the expectations of the Board regarding auditing agents trust accounts. This resulted in more
audits being qualified for matters that are technical breaches and not considered significant.
This increased awareness can be attributed to the education program and industry seminars
run by the Board and its independence of auditor policy.

Of the qualifications raised by the auditors most related to insignificant matters, such as clerical
or titling errors by banks so that the agent’s triennial certificate number or trading name have
not been included on the trust account, reconciliations completed but done a few days late or
not signed and dated, and trust accounts overdrawn by very small amounts from a few cents to
a few dollars.

Those of a significant nature related to month end reconciliation problems, particularly timing,
failure to reconcile the primary trust accounts, and reconciliation of bonds with the Bond
Administrator.

This year the number of auditors who failed to deliver an audit report or a statutory declaration
decreased. This was due to better follow up procedures being introduced in relation to late audit
reports and statutory declarations.

Efficiency indicator

The average cost per licensed agent, of regulating the real estate and business broking
industry.

The Board provided a range of services aimed to ensure that real estate agents complied with

the requirements of the Act. The following indicator measures the efficiency with which the
Board achieved this.
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Measure

The total cost of regulating the industry divided by the number of active licensed agents in
Western Australia.

2006/07 2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11
Annual cost® $6,132,312 $7,350,544  $8,239,771 $9,630,012 $9,986,819
Active licensed agents 2,170 2,318 2,324 2,210 2,536

Cost per active licensed  $2,913.39 $3,171.07 $3,545.51 $4,357.47 $3,938.02
agent

Notes to the indicator

The efficiency indicator is based on the cost of delivering the service for each active licensed
agent. In the 2010—11 financial year a total of $9,986,819 was expended on regulating an
industry with 2,536 active licensed agents.

The average cost of regulating the real estate and business broking industry for each licensed
agent decreased from $4,357.47 in 2009—10 to $3,938.02 this year.

° The annual cost of regulating the real estate and business broking industry has been calculated using the total annual expenditure
of the Board less Fidelity Guarantee Account payments and First Home Buyers Grants made in that financial year. Fidelity
Guarantee Account payments have been excluded as these payments relate to the reimbursement of losses that were incurred by
the defalcation of a licensed real estate agent in previous financial years and therefore do not reflect on the true annual cost of
regulating the real estate and business broking industry. First Home Buyers Grants have been excluded as they do not impact on
the cost of regulating the real estate and business broking industry.
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MINISTERIAL DIRECTIVES

No Ministerial directives were received during the financial year.
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OTHER FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES

Pricing policies of services provided

The Board conducted its annual review of its licensing fees in accordance with the Financial
Management Act 2006. This review was in line with the State Government’s policy that any
increases in fees are to be on a cost recovery basis. The Board’'s recommendation that the fees
be increased by the agreed Consumer Price Index of 3 per cent was approved by the Minister
for Commerce and was submitted for formal approval and amendments to the relevant
regulations.

Capital Works

No capital works were completed by the Board in 2010-11.

Employment and industrial relations

Employee category 2009-10 2010-11

Full-time permanent 8 7

Full-time contract

2 1
Part-time measured on a FTE basis 0 0
0 0

On secondment

Staffing policies

The Board conducted four training sessions for Real Estate Branch employees to ensure
provision of consistent, accurate and high quality advice and service was delivered to industry
members and the public on behalf of the Board.

Industrial relations
The Board was not involved in any industrial disputes.

Workers' compensation

The Board did not receive any workers’ compensation claims in this reporting period, as in the
previous year.
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GOVERNANCE DISCLOSURES

Contracts with senior officers

At the date of reporting, other than normal contracts of employment of service, no senior
officers, or firms of which senior officers are members, or entities in which senior officers have
substantial interests, had any interests in existing or proposed contracts with the Board and
senior officers.

Freedom of Information requests

The Freedom of Information Act 1992 allows members of the public to lodge requests for copies
of documents relating to the Board and its operations. The Board endeavoured to make
available as much information as possible. In the year 2010-11, the Board received one request
for information under the Freedom of Information Act 1992.

The Department provided an administrative function to the Board in relation to Freedom of
Information matters. People who wished to lodge a Freedom of Information application or obtain
the department’s Freedom of Information Statement were advised to contact the Freedom of
Information Coordinator for the Consumer Protection Division on 9282 0923.
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OTHER LEGAL REQUIREMENTS
Advertising

Under section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, the Board was required to report on expenditure
incurred using the following types of bodies to promote or market its services:

e advertising agencies;

e market research organisations;
e polling organisations;

e direct mail organisations; and

* media organisations.

The Board reports that it did not incur any such expenditure in the reporting period 2010-11.

Disability Access and Inclusion Plan

The Board is not a public authority for the purposes of Schedule 1 of the Disability Services
Regulations 2004; however, it acknowledges and supports the principles applicable to people
with disabilities stated in Schedule 1 of the Disability Services Act 1993. Its Disability Access
and Inclusion Plan 2007-2011 expressed the Board’s commitment to ensuring that services
were delivered effectively to its employees, customers and the wider community. A copy of this
plan was available on the Board’s internet site.

Compliance with Public Sector Standards and
ethical codes

The Board was required to comply with the Public Sector Standards in Human Resource
Management and the Western Australian Public Sector Code of Ethics in its dealings with
employees. During 2010-11, the Board did not receive any applications for breaches of the
standards.

Board members and employees were required to comply with the Code of Conduct for Board
Members and Officers 2007 (updated April 2009). The Code of Conduct for Board Members
and Officers 2007 set standards concerning the Board’s operational requirements and expected
behaviour of its members and employees as they carried out their day-to-day work. It also
provided guidance and practical assistance on what to do when faced with an ethical issue. An
electronic version of this document was available on the Board'’s internet site.

When the Board was in session, members were required to act in accordance with their own
independent views and experiences, in the light of the role and purpose of the Board. Members
did not perform their duties in a manner that represented or protected the interests of any
particular organisation with which they were associated.
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Recordkeeping plan

The Board was required to have a recordkeeping plan as a government organisation for the
purposes of Schedule 1 of the State Records Act 2000. Employees of the Department of
Commerce who provided services to the Board through a Service Delivery Agreement were
required to attend records and document management training as part of their induction.
Additional training and relevant training material was available to employees upon request.

The Department has record keeping policies and standards which include the management of
emails. New employees receive the booklet Corporate Information - Record keeping essentials
which is also available on the department’s intranet.

62

Real Estate and Business Agents Supervisory Board




/«

GOVERNMENT POLICY REQUIREMENTS

Substantive equality

The Department provided the Board with a range of services through a Service Delivery
Agreement and was required to report on the progress achieved in implementing the Policy
Framework for Substantive Equality. Please refer to the section ‘Substantive equality’ in the
Department of Commerce Annual Report 2010-11 for further information.

Occupational safety, health and injury
management

In carrying out its statutory functions and in its role as an employer the Board was committed to
providing a safe working environment and complied with the injury management requirements
of the Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981.

Under its Occupational Safety and Health Management Plan the Board committed to providing
safety checks and basic first aid and occupational safety and health awareness training to its
employees.

Board employees had the opportunity to elect an Occupational Safety and Health
Representative in accordance with the Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984.

The Board Director was responsible for ensuring that Board employees complied with
Occupational Safety and Health requirements. The Board Director and the Occupational Safety
and Health Representative conducted regular workplace safety checks and regularly monitored
developments in health and safety legislation and management systems.

Board employees had the opportunity to access the Employee Assistance Program in the form
of confidential counselling services, which are provided free of charge.

An external accredited assessment of occupational safety and health management systems
was conducted in April 2008 that included a summary of findings.

Report on annual OSH performance 2010-11

Indicator Target 2010-11 Result 2010-11
Number of fatalities None None (0)

Lost time injury/disease None or 10 per cent reduction  None (0)
(LTI/D) incidence rate on previous year

Lost time injury severity rate None or 10 per cent None (0)

improvement on previous year

Percentage of injured workers  Actual percentage result to be  None (0)

returned to work within 28 reported
weeks
Percentage of managers Greater than or equal to 50 33.33 per cent

trained in occupational safety, per cent
health and injury management
responsibilities
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APPENDIX

The following table provided details and results of concluded State Administrative Tribunal
disciplinary matters during the period 1 July 2010 — 30 June 2011.

of KRACM Pty Ltd
2010

sections 103(2)(c)(ii)&(iii) of the Act,

when it:

a) received commission when it did
not have a current authority to
act in writing contrary to section
60(3) of the Act;

b) acted as and represented to be
the agent for a property
transaction without a current

written authority to do so in that it

negotiated the sale of the
property and drew up the Offer
and Acceptance contract
contrary to article 4(1) of the
Code of Conduct for Agents and

Sales Representatives (the Code

of Conduct) ; and

c) advertised the property for sale
and displayed a notice of sale
when it did not have a current
written authority to do so
contrary to article 4(3) of the
Code of Conduct.

paid within 28 days
of the date of the
order.

VR Respondents Findings Penalty Costs
42 of Memet On 2 December 2008 the Suspension of $1,000 costs in
2010 Demiroski respondent was convicted on his certificate of clear funds to be
own confession of an offence that registration and is paid no later than
between 1 March 2001 and 22 June  disqualified from 14 December
2007 he, with intent to defraud by being re-registered  2010.
deceit or fraudulent means, until December
obtained the sum of $75,000 from 2010.
the buyer of a business.
128 Richard While in the employment of a $1,500 fine to be No order as to
of Masson Moody licensed real estate agent the paid within 6 costs.
2010 respondent acted as and carried out months of the date
the functions of a real estate sales of the order.
representative when he was not the
holder of a current certificate of
registration or the holder of a current
triennial certificate contrary to
section 44(1) of the Real Estate and
Business Agents Act 1978 (the Act).
138 1st Respondent The 1st respondent breached $3,000 fine to be $500 costs to be

paid within 28 days
of the date of the
order.
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VR Respondents Findings Penalty Costs
138 2nd The 2nd respondent breached $1,500 fine to be $500 costs to be
of Respondent section 103(4)(c)(iii) of the Act by paid within 28 days paid within 28 days
2010 Padmapani failing to exercise skill, care and of the date of the of the date of the
Abeywickrema  diligence when they: order order
a) acted as and represented to be
a sales representative on
behalf of the sellers, when he,
as an employee and Director of
the first respondent, knew the
first respondent did not have a
current written authority to do
so in that he negotiated the
sale and drew up the Offer and
Acceptance contract on behalf
of the Professionals and
caused the property to be
advertised with himself as the
contract person;
b) did not complete the property
details (namely the Lot, Plan,
Volume and Folio details) prior
to the parties signing the
contract and then completed
those details sometime after
signing;
c) amended the deposit amount
on the Contract after it had
been signed by the parties and
failed to have the parties initial
the amendment; and
d) signed as withess the Variation
to the Contract dated 6
February 2009, prior to the
sellers signing the Contract.
153 1strespondent The 1st respondent breached $1,000 fine to be No order as to
of Morgan Realty  sections 60(3), 61(5) and 61(4) of paid within 21 days costs at 30 June
2010 Pty Ltd the Act. of the date of the 2011.
order and
Real Estate licence
to be suspended
for 2 years from
the date of the
order.
153 2ndrespondent The 2nd respondent breached Licence suspended No order as to
of Phillip Davies- article 5 of the Code of Conduct. for 2 years from costs to date.
2010 Morgan date of the order.
153 3rdrespondent The 3rd respondent failed to Agents licence and  No order as to
of Salvatore properly supervise the business of Triennial certificate  costs.
2010 Messina the 1st respondent and take steps to is suspended for 2

prevent breaches of the Act and the
Code of Conduct.

years from the date
of the order.
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VR Respondents

Findings

Penalty

Costs

234  1strespondent
of Joel Winkley
2010

The 1st respondent carried out
functions of a sales representative
and received remuneration as an
employee of the 2nd respondent
when he did not hold a current
certificate of registration contrary to
section 44(1) of the Act.

$1,000 fine to be
paid within 28 days
of the date of the
order.

$250 costs to be
paid within 28 days
of the order.

234  2nd respondent
of AMG Real
2010 Estate Pty Ltd

Contrary to section 54(1) of the Act
the 2nd respondent employed the
1st respondent and provided
remuneration by way of wages for
carrying out the functions of a sales
representative whilst he was not
registered.

$1,000 fine to be
paid within 28 days
of the date of the
order.

$250 costs to be
paid within 28 days
of the date of the
order.

234 3rd respondent
of lan Moffet
2010

The respondent failed to act
according to article 6(2) of the Code
of Conduct in that they failed to
properly supervise the business of
the 2nd respondent, in that he failed
to ensure persons employed to
carry out the functions of a real
estate sales representative were
registered in accordance with the
Act.

$1,000 fine to be
paid within 28 days
of the date of the
order.

$250 costs to be
paid within 28 days
of the date of the
order.

208 Kevin lan
of Mahney
2010

The respondent:

a) contrary to section 68(4) of the
Act withdrew money from the
trust account of Blue Chip
Investments by Shoreline Pty
Ltd (in liquidation) when not
authorised to do so;

b) breached section 68(5) of the
Act and paid monies withdrawn
from the above account to
agency’s general account and
expended those monies;

c) breached section 68(6)(a) of
the Act in that he failed to keep
full records of monies received
and payments made by the
agency;

d) contrary to article 5(1) of the
Code of Conduct, did not act
fairly and honestly in causing
unauthorised withdrawals, and
use of monies, from above trust
account; and

e) contrary to article 6(2) of the
Code of Conduct, failed to
properly supervise the agency
and take steps to ensure it
complied with the Act.

Agents licence and
Triennial certificate
is suspended for 5

years from the date
of the order.

$1,000.00 to be
paid within 90 days
of this order.
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VR Respondents

Findings

Penalty

Costs

78 of
2010

1st respondent
Exclusive
Waterfront
Properties Pty
Ltd

The first respondent:

a)

b)

contrary to section 68(1) of the
Act failed to credit monies,
received from Seafarer Holding
Pty Ltd (Seafarer), in regards to
a transaction to their trust
account;

breached article 13(1) of the
Code of Conduct by failing to
supply information in order to
satisfy Seafarer that expenses
which could be validly claimed
were properly incurred and as
to the amount of the expenses;
and

breached article 15(2) of the
Code of Conduct by retaining
reimbursement for expenses
incurred in respect of
advertising which were not
agreed to by Seafarer.

Total of $2,700 in
fines to be paid
within 28 days of
this order.

$3,500.00 to be
paid jointly with the
second respondent
within 28 days of
this order.

78 of 2nd respondent
2010 Ronald George
Smith

The second respondent:

a)

contrary to article 6(2) of the
Code of Conduct failed to
properly supervise the
business of the first respondent
in regards to the matter above.

$1,300 fine to be
paid within 28 days
of this order.

$3,500.00 to be
paid jointly with the
first respondent
within 28 days of
this order.
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